IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-0177

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

JESSICA RAE STANTON,
Defendant-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR TAMA COUNTY
THE HONORABLE RICHARD VANDER MEY, MAGISTRATE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

AARON ROGERS
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
aaron.rogers@ag.iowa.gov

BRENT D. HEEREN
Tama County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. **Whether the State of Iowa has criminal jurisdiction over acts committed on the Meskwaki Settlement and not committed by or against tribe members.**

Authorities

Attorney's Process & Investigation Servs., Inc. v. Sac & Fox Tribe of Miss. in Iowa, 609 F.3d 927 (8th Cir. 2010)
California v. Cabazon Band of Mission Indians, 480 U.S. 202 (1987)
Donnelly v. United States, 228 U.S. 243 (1913)
Draper v. United States, 164 U.S. 240 (1896)
Duro v. Reina, 495 U.S. 676 (1990)
Ex Parte Wilson, 140 U.S. 575 (1891)
Fort Leavenworth R. Co. v. Lowe, 114 U.S. 525 (1885)
Hilderbrand v. United States, 261 F.2d 354 (9th Cir. 1958)
In re Lelah-puc-ka-chee, 98 F. 429 (N.D. Iowa 1899)
Kaul v. Stephan, 83 F.3d 1208 (10th Cir. 1996)
Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Community, 572 U.S. 782 (2014)
Negonsott v. Samuels, 507 U.S. 99 (1993)
Nevada v. Hicks, 533 U.S. 353 (2001)
New York ex rel. Cutler v. Dibble, 62 U.S. 366 (1858)
New York ex rel. Ray v. Martin, 326 U.S. 496 (1946)
Oliphant v. Suquamish Indian Tribe, 435 U.S. 191 (1978)
Peters v. Malin, 111 F. 244 (C.C. Iowa 1901)
Sac & Fox Indians of the Miss. in Iowa v. Sac & Fox Indians of the Miss. in, Okla., 220 U.S. 481 (1911)
Sac & Fox Tribe of Miss. in Iowa v. Licklider, 576 F.2d 145 (8th Cir. 1978)
Solem v. Bartlett, 465 U.S. 463 (1984)
United States v. Antelope, 430 U.S. 641 (1977)
United States v. Bryant, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 1954, 195 L. Ed. 2d 317 (2016)
United States v. Dodge, 538 F.2d 770 (8th Cir. 1976)
United States v. Erickson, 478 F.2d 684 (8th Cir. 1973)
United States v. John, 587 F.2d 683 (5th Cir. 1979)
United States v. Langford, 641 F.3d 1195 (10th Cir. 2011)

United States v. Lara, 541 U.S. 193 (2004)
United States v. McBratney, 104 U.S. 621 (1881)
United States v. Reza-Ramos, 816 F.3d 1110 (9th Cir. 2016)
United States v. Rogers, 45 U.S. (4 How.) 567 (1846)
United States v. Sutton, 215 U.S. 291 (1909)
United States v. Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313 (1978)
Utah & N. Ry. Co. v. Fisher, 116 U.S. 28 (1885)
Walker v. Rushing, 898 F.2d 672 (8th Cir. 1990)
Washington v. Confederated Tribes of Colville Reservation,
447 U.S. 134 (1980)
Williams v. United States, 327 U.S. 711 (1946)
Youngbear v. Brewer, 549 F.2d 74 (8th Cir. 1977)
Francisco v. State, 556 P.2d 1 (Ariz. 1976)
Goforth v. State, 644 P.2d 114 (Okla. Ct. Crim. App. 1982) 17
Meier v. Sac & Fox Indian Tribe of the Miss. in Iowa,
476 N.W.2d 61 (Iowa 1991)
Olson v. N.D. Dept., Trans., 909 N.W.2d 676 (N.D. 2018)
People v. Collins, 826 N.W.2d 175 (Mich. Ct. App. 2012)
Ryder v. State, 648 P.2d 774, (N.M. 1982)
State ex rel. Olson v. Shoemaker, 39 N.W.2d 524 (S.D. 1949)
State v. Bear, 452 N.W.2d 430 (1990)
State v. Clark, 308 P.3d 590 (Wash. 2013)
State v. Griswold, 422 P.2d 693 (Ariz. 1967)
State v. Harrison, 238 P.3d 869 (N.M. 2010)
State v. Hartley, 549 N.W.2d 794 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Holthusen, 113 N.W.2d 180 (Minn. 1962)
State v. Jones, 546 P.2d 235 (Nev. 1976)
State v. Kuntz, 66 N.W.2d 531 (N.D. 1954)
State v. Kurtz, 249 P.3d 1271 (Or. 2011)
State v. Lasley, 705 N.W.2d 481 (Iowa 2005)
State v. Reber, 171 P.3d 406 (Utah 2007)
State v. Roedl, 155 P.2d 741 (Utah 1945)
State v. Sebastian, 701 A.2d 13 (Conn. 1997)
State v. Snyder, 807 P.2d 55 (Idaho 1991)
State v. Thomas, 760 P.2d 96 (Mont. 1988)
State v. Vandermay, 478 N.W.2d 289 (S.D. 1991)
State v. Verdugo, 901 P.2d 1165 (Ariz. 1995)
State v. Wabashaw, 740 N.W.2d 583 (Neb. 2007)
State v. Warner, 379 P.2d 66 (N.M. 1963)
State v. Youngbear, 229 N.W.2d 728 (Iowa 1975)

Vialpando v. State, 640 P.2d 77 (Wyo. 1982)
Young v. State, No. 13-1656, 2015 WL 567012 (Iowa Ct. App.
Feb. 11, 2015)
18 U.S.C. § 1152
18 U.S.C. § 1162 (2000)
18 U.S.C. §§ 3, 1152
25 U.S.C. § 461
42 C.J.S. § 81
Treaty of 1867, 15 Stat. 495
Act of December 28, 1846, 9 Stat. 117
Act of June 10, 1896, ch. 398, 29 Stat. 321, 331 (1897)
Act of June 30, 1948, ch. 759, 62 Stat. 1161
Act of Aug. 15, 1953, ch. 505 § 2, 67 Stat. 588
Act of Dec. 11, 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-301, 132 Stat. 4395 (2018)
An Act for the Admission of the States of Iowa & Florida Into
the Union, March 3, 1845 ch. 75, 76, 5 Stat. 789
H.R. Rep. 115-279, at 2 (2017)
Treaty of 1832, 7 Stat. 374
Treaty of Nov. 3, 1804, 7 Stat. 84 (1846)
Treaty of 1836, 7 Stat. 517
Treaty of 1837, 7 Stat. 520
Treaty of 1842, 7 Stat. 596
U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 3
U.S. Const. art. II, § 2, cl. 2
1896 Iowa Acts p. 114, ch. 110 (26th Gen. Assembly)
2016 Iowa Acts pp. 94-95, ch. 1050 (86th Gen. Assembly)
Iowa Code § 1.12
Iowa Code § 1.15A
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.73(1)
41 Am. Jur. 2d § 182
163 Cong. Rec. H8323-02, (Nov. 1, 2017) (statements of Reps.
Cook, Torres, and Blum), 2017 WL 4968728
*Jimenez & Song, Concurrent Tribal & State Jurisdiction Under
Public Law 280*, 47 Am. U. L. Rev. 1627 (1998)
Tama County Board of Supervisors, 52 I.B.I.A. 179, 2010 WL
4653809 (Dep't of Interior October 22, 2010)
Marvin Murphy, 3 I.B.I.A. 47, 1974 WL 15360 (Dep't of Interior
Sept. 9, 1974)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The State has a pending request for early submission pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.1102(2). If the issue is not submitted early, the State requests that the Iowa Supreme Court retain this case because it presents a “fundamental and urgent issue[] of broad public importance requiring prompt [and] ultimate determination by the supreme court.” Iowa R. App. P. 1101(2)(d). The State requested discretionary review, and this Court granted it, because the issue is important to the judiciary and profession. Iowa Code § 814.5(2)(d); Iowa R. App. P. 6.106(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a discretionary review of dismissal of criminal charges for lack of subject matter jurisdiction by Judicial Magistrate Richard Vander Mey of the Sixth Judicial District of Iowa in and for Tama County.

The State of Iowa has criminal jurisdiction over crimes committed on the Meskwaki Settlement in Tama County, Iowa, if not committed by or against a tribe member. Yet, the magistrate improperly dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction three

complaints under two case numbers against Defendant Jessica Rea Stanton. Dismissal was improper because the State has jurisdiction over these victimless criminal acts committed on the settlement by a nonmember of the Meskwaki Tribe. This Court should thus reverse the order and direct reinstatement of the complaints.

Course of Proceedings

On January 1, 2019, an officer of the Meskwaki Nation Police Department filed three simple misdemeanor complaints against Defendant Jessica Rea Stanton, not a member of the Meskwaki Tribe, in the Iowa District Court for Tama County. Complaint: Trespass, Case No. STA0021728; App. 9; Citation & Complaint: Drug Paraphernalia, Case No. SMSM013023; App. 5; Citation & Complaint: No Contact Violation, Case No. SMSM013023; App. 7. One complaint alleges trespass first offense in violation of Iowa Code section 716.8(1), the second alleges possession of drug paraphernalia in violation of Iowa Code section 124.414, and the third alleges violation of a no contact order in violation of Iowa Code section 664A.2. The same day the tribal police filed the complaints, Judicial Magistrate Richard Vander Mey dismissed the three charges sua sponte. Order

Dismiss (01/01/2019), Case No. STA0021728 & SMSM013023; App. 10.

The State filed an application for discretionary review on January 30, 2019. The magistrate filed a resistance on February 15, 2019, and requested appointment of counsel. Stanton did not resist discretionary review.

The Iowa Supreme Court granted discretionary review on March 8, 2019. The Court struck the resistance of the magistrate because he is not a party and denied as moot the magistrate's application for appointment of counsel. In its order, the Court gave Stanton twenty-one days to state whether she would retain, or seek appointment of, counsel. Stanton appeared through counsel on March 29, 2019.

Due to the urgent, important issue involved, the State asked the Iowa Supreme Court to expedite this appeal's briefing, submission, and decision. Mot. Expedited Rev. (03/11/2019). That motion remains pending.

Facts

The Meskwaki¹ Tribe, also known as the Sac & Fox of the Mississippi in Iowa, is federally recognized. See Indian Entities Recognized and Eligible to Receive Services from the United States Bureau of Indian Affairs, 83 Fed.Reg. 34,863, 34,866 (July 23, 2018). The Meskwaki Settlement in Tama County, Iowa, is held in trust by the federal government for the benefit of the tribe. *Sac & Fox Tribe of Miss. in Iowa v. Licklider*, 576 F.2d 145, 148 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 955 (1978).

On January 1, 2019, an officer with the Meskwaki Tribal Police filed complaints alleging that Defendant Jessica Rea Stanton trespassed, possessed drug paraphernalia, and violated a no contact order while on the Meskwaki Settlement. App. 5, 7, 9. Meskwaki police officers are law enforcement officers trained, and recognized, by the State of Iowa. Iowa Code §§ 80B.3, 80B.18, 80D.6A. The

¹ According to the Meskwaki Nation website, “Meskwaki” has always been the name of the tribe that the French called “Renards” (translates to the Fox). The federal government adopted “Fox,” but the tribe called itself, and calls itself, Meskwaki, including after its beneficial association with the Sauk Tribe that led to the government lumping the tribes into the “Sac and Fox.” Meskwaki Nation, *History* <https://meskwaki.org/about-us/history/> (last visited March 26, 2019).

district court² immediately dismissed sua sponte the complaints for lack of jurisdiction. Order Dismiss; App. 10.

The district court concluded that 2018 federal legislation removed state criminal jurisdiction over all crimes committed on the settlement. *Id.* The court also said that neither tribal police nor state peace officers may bring state charges for conduct on the settlement “regardless of the race or ethnic background of any potential Defendant.” *Id.* The court reasoned: “Any charges for conduct upon the Meskwaki Settlement can be pursued in tribal court or federal court.” *Id.* Costs of the action were taxed to the tribe. *Id.*

The court also told the Tama County Sheriff to consult the Tama County Attorney to determine whether the sheriff can accept detainees charged with crimes on the settlement. *Id.* Additionally, the court told tribal authorities to instruct tribal police not to charge state criminal violations because doing so would clog the courts and

² Magistrates exercising the power of the district court are sometimes referred to as “magistrate court,” yet “there is no such thing as a separate ‘magistrate court’ in Iowa. Rather, the code provides that a magistrate is one of the judicial officers of our unified trial court system.” *Wenck v. State*, 320 N.W.2d 567, 569 (Iowa 1982); *cf.* Iowa Code §§ 602.6101, .6104.

impose costs on the tribe as cases would be dismissed and court costs imposed against the tribe. *Id.*

The State sought this discretionary review of the district court's order, asserting it "rais[es] a question of law important to the judiciary and the profession. Iowa Code § 814.5(2)(d). The Iowa Supreme Court granted review. Order (03/08/2019).

ARGUMENT

I. The State of Iowa has Jurisdiction Over Victimless Crimes Committed on the Meskwaki Settlement by Nonmembers of the Tribe.

Preservation of Error

A question of a court's subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time by any party or even sua sponte by an appellate court. *State v. Lasley*, 705 N.W.2d 481, 486 (Iowa 2005). The district court did not offer the State the opportunity to address the issue below, dismissing sua sponte for lack of jurisdiction the same day charges were filed. Order Dismiss; App. 10. The court has granted discretionary review on the issue, which is an appropriate vehicle to address questions of subject matter jurisdiction. *Lasley*, 705 N.W.2d at 486.

Standard of Review

Matters of subject matter jurisdiction are reviewed at law. *Id.* at 485. Evaluating subject matter jurisdiction requires statutory interpretation, also reviewed at law. *Id.*

Merits

A. The State of Iowa has Jurisdiction to Investigate and Prosecute Crimes Committed on the Meskwaki Settlement If Not Committed By or Against a Tribe Member.

The district court's order dismissing charges based on a lack of subject matter jurisdiction was incorrect. The Meskwaki Settlement is "Indian country" as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1151. *State v. Youngbear*, 229 N.W.2d 728, 732 (Iowa), *cert. denied*, 423 U.S. 1018 (1975).

Crimes committed on such tribal land are governed by a complicated patchwork of statutes, case law, and treaties stitching together federal, state, and tribal law. *Negonsott v. Samuels*, 507 U.S. 99, 102 (1993) (citing *Duro v. Reina*, 495 U.S. 676, 680, n. 1 (1990)). This patchwork assigns jurisdiction depending on the crime committed, who committed it, who was the victim, and where it was committed. *Id.* The statute that the district court apparently relied on to dismiss the charges does not govern the crimes alleged against Defendant Jessica Stanton.

“Ordinarily, it is now clear, an Indian reservation is considered part of the territory of the State.” *Nevada v. Hicks*, 533 U.S. 353, 361–62 (2001). The State’s power to regulate must accommodate the tribe’s interest in making its own laws and being governed by them. *Id.* But a tribe’s authority no longer extends to nonmembers who come onto tribal lands. *See Attorney's Process & Investigation Servs., Inc. v. Sac & Fox Tribe of Miss. in Iowa*, 609 F.3d 927, 935-36 (8th Cir. 2010) (describing the historical divestiture of aspects of tribal sovereignty by the federal government).

When addressing crimes committed on tribal lands, the important distinction to make at the outset is between two broad categories of crimes: 1) crimes committed by or against tribe members, and 2) other crimes. *See United States v. Antelope*, 430 U.S. 641 (1977) (concluding that assigning criminal jurisdiction based on tribe membership status does not violate due process or equal protection). States have criminal jurisdiction over crimes committed on tribal lands if not committed by or against a tribe member. *New York ex rel. Ray v. Martin*, 326 U.S. 496, 497 (1946). The State of Iowa has had this jurisdiction since the grant of statehood. *United States v. McBratney*, 104 U.S. 621, 623, 624 (1881).

For criminal acts by nonmembers of tribes on tribal lands not committed against tribe members, states in fact have exclusive jurisdiction. *See Lasley*, 705 N.W.2d at 490 (noting State of Iowa would have jurisdiction if the defendant was not a tribe member) (citing *United States v. John*, 587 F.2d 683, 686 (5th Cir. 1979)); *e.g.*, *Solem v. Bartlett*, 465 U.S. 463, 465 n.2 (1984); *Hilderbrand v. United States*, 261 F.2d 354, 356 (9th Cir. 1958); *State v. Kurtz*, 249 P.3d 1271, 1275–76 (Or. 2011); *State v. Harrison*, 238 P.3d 869, 874 (N.M. 2010); *State v. Wabashaw*, 740 N.W.2d 583, 591 (Neb. 2007); *State v. Reber*, 171 P.3d 406, 408 (Utah 2007); *State v. Sebastian*, 701 A.2d 13, 22 (Conn. 1997); *State v. Vandermay*, 478 N.W.2d 289, 290 (S.D. 1991); *State v. Snyder*, 807 P.2d 55, 56 (Idaho 1991); *State v. Thomas*, 760 P.2d 96, 98 (Mont. 1988); *Vialpando v. State*, 640 P.2d 77 (Wyo. 1982); *State v. Jones*, 546 P.2d 235, 235 (Nev. 1976); *State v. Griswold*, 422 P.2d 693, 694 (Ariz. 1967); *State v. Holthusen*, 113 N.W.2d 180, 187-88 (Minn. 1962); *State v. Kuntz*, 66 N.W.2d 531, 532 (N.D. 1954); *People v. Collins*, 826 N.W.2d 175, 179 (Mich. Ct. App. 2012); *Goforth v. State*, 644 P.2d 114, 116-17 (Okla. Ct. Crim. App. 1982).

To prove the State does not have jurisdiction over a crime not against a tribe member, a defendant would have the burden to prove tribal membership. *Young v. State*, No. 13-1656, 2015 WL 567012, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 11, 2015) (citing *State v. Verdugo*, 901 P.2d 1165, 1168 (Ariz. 1995)). Here, no hearing was held below, so Stanton did not establish tribal membership. See *United States v. Dodge*, 538 F.2d 770, 786 (8th Cir. 1976) (noting imprecise definition of who is an “Indian,” according to federal law, and setting forth two considerations: 1) some amount of Indian blood, and 2) recognition as an Indian by a tribe or the federal government) (applying test proposed by *United States v. Rogers*, 45 U.S. (4 How.) 567, 572–73 (1846)). For purposes of this appeal, Stanton is thus a nonmember of the Meskwaki Tribe or any other.

The district court here, despite all authority being to the contrary, concluded that the State of Iowa has no criminal jurisdiction over any acts on the Meskwaki Settlement. Order Dismiss; App. 10. The court also extended its reasoning to conclude that the county sheriff could not accept prisoners for crimes allegedly committed on the settlement. *Id.* And it suggested that tribal authorities should train tribal police not to charge state crimes for

conduct on the settlement, no matter the race of the offender. *Id.* If the district court extends its misreading, it may refuse to issue search warrants for crimes on the settlement or subpoenas for tribe member witnesses.

When the State of Iowa tendered to the federal government lands in Tama County, which were held at the time by Iowa's governor in trust for the Meskwaki, the State included this restriction in the transferring legislation:

Nothing contained in this act shall be so construed as to prevent on any of the lands referred to in this act the service of any judicial process issued by or returnable to any court of this state or judge thereof, or to prevent such courts from exercising jurisdiction of crimes against the laws of Iowa committed thereon either by said Indians or others, or of such crimes committed by said Indians in any part of this state

1896 Iowa Acts p. 114, ch. 110 (26th Regular General Assembly). The federal government accepted the tender subject to the State's expressed limitations:

That the United States hereby accepts and assumes jurisdiction over the Sac and Fox Indians of Tama County, in the State of Iowa, and of their lands in said State, as tendered to the United States by the act of the legislature of said State passed on the sixteenth day of January, eighteen hundred and ninety-six,

subject to the limitations therein
contained

Sac & Fox Tribe of Miss. in Iowa v. Licklider, 576 F.2d 145, 147-49 (8th Cir. 1978) (quoting Act of June 10, 1896, ch. 398, 29 Stat. 321, 331 (1897)). The transfer of lands retained state criminal jurisdiction over all crimes on the lands transferred into trust. History hasn't changed anything in respect to nonmembers of the Meskwaki, which will be discussed in detail in section C below. The transfer legislation, approved by the federal government, also shows that law enforcement officers had, and have, the power to serve any judicial process on the Meskwaki Settlement when exercising the criminal jurisdiction of the state courts. 1896 Iowa Acts p. 114, ch. 110.

Even ignoring the State of Iowa's specific reservation of powers on the settlement, case law governing state jurisdiction on tribal lands is not to the contrary. State criminal jurisdiction includes crimes committed by nonmembers on the settlement not against members. *McBratney*, 104 U.S. 621 at 624; *State v. Warner*, 379 P.2d 66 (N.M. 1963); *Kuntz*, 66 N.W.2d at 532; *State ex rel. Olson v. Shoemaker*, 39 N.W.2d 524, 529 (S.D. 1949); *State v. Roedl*, 155 P.2d 741, 744 (Utah 1945). Other states addressing state power on tribal land have held that state law enforcement officers also have the authority to stop

vehicles for traffic offenses on tribal lands. *See Harrison*, 238 P.3d at 875 (noting that if the officer learns the offender is a tribe member, however, the State does not have authority to prosecute). Officers have been recognized to have power to execute search warrants on tribal land. *Kaul v. Stephan*, 83 F.3d 1208, 1216-18 (10th Cir. 1996). Tribal sovereignty has not been a barrier to states issuing and executing search warrants at an enrolled member's residence. *State v. Clark*, 308 P.3d 590, 593-95 (Wash. 2013); *but see Francisco v. State*, 556 P.2d 1, 5 (Ariz. 1976) (concluding Arizona had no power to serve process on tribe member on tribal land). The power to conduct law-enforcement-related activities, including execution of search warrants and subpoenas, has been allowed to extend as well to crimes committed off tribal lands. *Hicks*, 533 U.S. at 386. A state's authority to serve warrants on tribal land within their borders has been recognized as necessary to prevent reservations from becoming places of asylum for fugitives. *Fort Leavenworth R. Co. v. Lowe*, 114 U.S. 525, 533 (1885). A state may also enforce its non-criminal regulatory interests on a reservation, for example, requiring a tribal entity to collect state cigarette taxes. *Washington v. Confederated Tribes of Colville Reservation*, 447 U.S. 134, 156 (1980). Even before

statehood, territories were recognized to have power to serve process on a reservation if a territorial court had jurisdiction over the controversy. *Utah & N. Ry. Co. v. Fisher*, 116 U.S. 28, 31 (1885).

When the state has jurisdiction over a criminal act, barring a limiting treaty provision, the state's law enforcement powers on tribal land are not limited by tribal sovereignty. Stanton, as a nonmember of a tribe until proved otherwise, is subject to state court jurisdiction for her alleged victimless crimes committed on the Meskwaki Settlement.

B. Public Law 301, Congress's 2018 Legislation Addressing Crimes Committed By or Against Tribe Members, Does Not Apply to Stanton.

The district court here relied on recent legislation addressing crimes committed by or against tribe members to dismiss the charges against Stanton. Act of Dec. 11, 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-301, 132 Stat. 4395 (2018) (hereinafter "Public Law 301"). Failure to distinguish between two categories of crimes—those committed by or against a tribe member versus all other crimes—is the root of the district court's error. Evaluating Public Law 301 shows that it only addresses crimes committed by or against tribe members. Stanton's alleged crimes are not in this category.

The district court noted as its reason to dismiss:

Federal legislation was recently enacted which removed state jurisdiction for crimes committed on the Settlement. The understanding of the undersigned is that this lack of state jurisdiction prohibits tribal police officers, as well as Iowa peace officers, from initiating state criminal charges for conduct on the Settlement regardless of the race or ethnic background of any potential Defendant.”

Order Dismiss; App. 10. The district court was apparently referring to Public Law 301, which was enacted on December 18, 2018. 132 Stat. 4395. If the district court meant to point to different “federal legislation,” it did not cite it. The district court’s understanding that Public Law 301 addresses victimless crimes committed by nonmembers is mistaken.

Congress confirmed in 1948 that the State of Iowa’s criminal jurisdiction extended to those acts committed by or against tribe members on the settlement by passing Public Law 846. *Licklider*, 576 F.2d at 148 (citing Act of June 30, 1948, ch. 759, 62 Stat. 1161) (hereinafter Public Law 846) (emphasis added). Congress enacted Public Law 301 in 2018, and that law did one thing—it repealed Public Law 846. 132 Stat. 4395. Public Law 846 likewise did one thing—it confirmed State of Iowa jurisdiction over crimes on the

Meskwaki settlement by or against tribe members. 62 Stat. 1161.

Because Public Law 301 only repeals Public Law 846, and Public Law 846 only confirmed the State of Iowa's criminal jurisdiction over crimes on the settlement by or against tribe members, Public Law 301 only addresses the State of Iowa's jurisdiction over crimes on the settlement by or against tribe members.

The proof that the laws only affect crimes on the settlement by or against tribe members is clear from the texts. Public Law 301 says in its entirety:

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States of America in Congress assembled, That the Act of June 30, 1948, entitled "An Act to confer jurisdiction on the State of Iowa over offenses committed by or against Indians on the Sac and Fox Indian Reservation" (62 Stat. 1161, chapter 759) is repealed.

132 Stat. 4395 (emphasis added). Evaluating Public Law 301's effect thus requires reviewing the repealed Public Law 846, which says in its entirety:

Jurisdiction is hereby conferred on the State of Iowa over offenses committed by or against Indians on the Sac and Fox Indian Reservation in that State to the same extent as its courts have jurisdiction generally over offenses committed within said State outside of any Indian reservation: *Provided, however, That*

nothing herein contained shall deprive the courts of the United States of jurisdiction over offenses defined by the laws of the United States committed by or against Indians on Indian reservations.

62 Stat. 1161 (emphasis added); *see Lasley*, 705 N.W.2d at 487.

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