IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

Supreme Court No. 19-0177

vs.

JESSICA RAE STANTON,

Defendant/Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR TAMA COUNTY
THE HONORABLE RICHARD VANDER MEY, MAGISTRATE

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

John G. Daufeldt
DAUFELDT LAW FIRM, P.L.C.
1896 P Ave; P.O. Box 70
Conroy, IA 52220
P: 319-430-6778
F: 319-662-4292
E: jdaufeldt@daufeldtlawfirm.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE AND FILING

I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court for the Supreme Court of Iowa using the EDMS system on June 11th, 2019.

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

ARGUMENT

I. **BECAUSE PUBLIC LAW 301 ABOLISHED PUBLIC LAW 846 AND THE STATE OF IOWA HAS NOT SUBSEQUENTLY EXERCISED ITS DISRECTIONARY JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 110 ACTS OF GENERAL ASSEMBLY 1896, THE MAGISTRATE'S ORDER SHOULD BE UPHELD.**

(1) **Preservation of Error**: Error was not preserved by the State as it failed to file a Notice of Appeal to the District Court pursuant to Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure 2.73 and the relevant Iowa Supreme Court opinions, holding that a party cannot "by-pass" the appeal process in simple misdemeanor cases by failing to seek appellate review via the district court. In re M.W., 894 N.W.2d 526, 532 (Iowa 2017); Vance v. Iowa District Court for Floyd County, 907 N.W.2d 473, 479 (Iowa 2018) (citing and quoting In re M.W.).

(2) **Standard of Review**: The standard of review for appeals concerning statutory interpretation is reviewed for correction of errors at law. State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124, 134 (Iowa 2018).

A. **A Brief Review of the Relevant Legislation.**

The relevant legislation in Iowa regarding the Tribe and jurisdiction commenced in 1896 with the passage by the Iowa General Assembly of Chapter 110. See 1896 Iowa Act p. 114, ch. 110 (26th Regular General Assembly) (the “1896 Act”). The 1896 Act tendered to the U.S. **exclusive and sole jurisdiction** over the Tribe contingent on the United States accepting the tender. Id. In addition, the State reserved several discretionary rights, including the option that its courts may “exercis[e] jurisdiction of crimes against the laws of Iowa committed [on the lands owned by Indians] either by said Indians or others” Id.². The U.S. accepted this tender on June 10, 1896. Act of June 10, 1896, ch. 398, 29 Stat. 321 (the “1896 Acceptance”). Therefore, at that specific point in time, the U.S. had exclusive jurisdiction.

Although the State reserved this discretionary right to criminal jurisdiction (subject to the U.S.’s exclusivity) it is historically noted that the State did not, in fact, exercise it. Attorney General’s Report to Governor Cummins, entitled: the “Legal Status of Musquakies” (the “1905 AG Report

² The key passage in the 1896 Act: “Sec. 3. Nothing contained in this act shall be so construed as to prevent on any of the [Tribal] land referred to in this act. . . , or to prevent such courts [of this state] from exercising jurisdiction of crimes against the laws of Iowa committed thereon either by said Indians or others. . . .”

to Governor)”. Amended App. 11-12. The 1905 AG Report to Governor provides an accounting on the significant state of affairs on Tribal Land, and specifically notes this discretionary right to enforce jurisdiction pursuant to the 1896 Act. Id. It more importantly underscores the fact that despite the State’s reserved discretion to assert jurisdiction, according to the AG in 1905, “[t]his has never been carried out.” Id. Despite the discretion, the State was simply not utilizing the reserved right to assert criminal jurisdiction on Tribal Land.

Motivated by the ongoing “hands-off” approach by the State regarding jurisdiction over the Tribe, in 1948, the United States’ Congress enacted legislation specifically establishing State criminal jurisdiction over the Tribe. See Act of June 30, 1948, ch. 759, 62 Stat. 1161 (“Public Law 846”). The House Committee Report for PL 301 supports this assertion that Public Law 846 was enacted due to the State’s unwillingness to utilize its discretionary jurisdiction, as it is expressly indicated that “up until that time [1948] the Tribe had largely policed itself.” H.R. Rep. 115-279, at 3 (2017), WL 3741411. Therefore, if the State had been exercising its right to impose its jurisdiction through the 1896 Act, then Public Law 846 would not be necessary.

With the enactment of Public Law 846 the jurisdictional landscape remained unchanged until 2016 with the enactment of Iowa Code section 1.15A. Section 1.15A is entitled, “Criminal Jurisdiction – Sac and Fox Indian settlement”, states in whole:

“[n]otwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the state of Iowa tenders to the United States any and all criminal jurisdiction which the state of Iowa has over criminal offenses committed by or against Indians on the Sac and Fox Indian settlement in Tama, Iowa, and that as soon as the United States accepts and assumes such criminal jurisdiction previously conferred to the state of Iowa or reserved by the state of Iowa, all criminal jurisdiction on the part of the state of Iowa over criminal offenses committed by or against Indians on the Sac and Fox Indian settlement in Tama, Iowa, **shall cease.**”

(emphasis added). To become effective section 1.15A required a triggering event by the U.S., which occurred when Public Law 301 was enacted invoking the transfer of criminal jurisdiction to the United States. See Act of Dec. 11, 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-301, 132 Stat. 4395 (2018). More importantly, Public Law 301 repealed Public Law 846.

Therefore, on December 11, 2018, the legislation in effect regarding criminal jurisdiction by the State over individuals on Tribal land was solely the 1896 Act and its reserved discretionary right to exercise jurisdiction. See Fox v. Licklider, 576 F. 2d 145, 149 (8th Cir. 1978), indicating that based

on the plain language of the 1896 Act, that “[t]he state of Iowa has the right to **exercise** its police powers for the protection of its own citizen”

(emphasis added).

B. The State Has Not Exercised Its Reserved Discretionary Right to Jurisdiction Over Crimes on Tribal Land Since the Repealing of Public Law 846 on December 11, 2018 and the Magistrate’s Order Should Be Affirmed.

In common usage “to exercise” has inherently meant doing something affirmatively. This Court has defined “exercise,” in the context of a legislative grant of power, as the “discharge of an official function or professional occupation.” Nextera Energy Res. L.L.C. v. Iowa Util. Bd., 815 N.W.2d 30, 38 (Iowa 2012) (approving of *Websters Third New International Dictionary* definition at 982). Therefore, by the plain reading of the 1896 Act, the State was required to take some actions in the furtherance of discharging its official functions in asserting its jurisdiction over Ms. Stanton and the Charges. It did nothing of the sort.

From the beginning of the matter to her appearance in Magistrate Court, Ms. Stanton’s interactions with a governing body was solely with the Tribe. Amended App. 5-9. It was the Tribe who investigated and cited her. Id. The citation documentation showing the Charges clearly indicates

across the top of the citations, that it is the Tribe, through its Tribal Police, who is citing her. Id. It was the Tribe who detained and arrested her. Id. Conversely, the State has shown no interest nor interaction with Ms. Stanton at all. The State failed to even appear at the Initial Appearance to prosecute the Charges for the Tribe. Amended App. 10. The only governing body Ms. Stanton came in contact with was the Tribe.

Contrast the lack of involvement of the State in Ms. Stanton's matter, with those in other relevant cases where the state is actively involved. In Negosot v. Samuels, 507 U.S. 99, 104 (1993), the State of Kansas prosecuted the petitioner as an act of asserting jurisdiction. In Fox v. Licklider, 576 F. 2d at 147, the State of Iowa arrested and initiated criminal action against a tribal member. In State v. Lasley, 705 N.W.2d 481, 483 (Iowa 2005), the State of Iowa through the Tama County Sheriff's department issued the citation at issue. In State v. Youngbear, 229 N.W.2d 728, 730 (Iowa 1975), the State investigated and charged the defendant.

The complete lack of interest by the State cannot be construed as exercising its right to have its courts assume jurisdiction over Ms. Stanton nor the alleged crimes occurring at the Casino. One would expect that if

the State was interested in exercising jurisdiction it would have indicated in some way its intent to do so. It did not.

CONCLUSION

Because the State did not assert in any way its jurisdiction over Ms. Stanton, the Magistrate's Order should be affirmed pursuant to the plain and express language of the 1896 Act.

ORAL ARGUMENT

The Appellee does request oral arguments in this appeal.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION, TYPEFACE REQUIREMENTS, AND TYPE-STYLE REQUIREMENTS

1. This brief complies with the type-volume limitation of I.R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1) or (2) because it contains 3,265 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by I.R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1).
2. This brief complies with the typeface requirements of I.R. App. P. 6.903(1) and the type-style requirement of I.R. App. P. 6.903(1)(f) because it has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface using Microsoft Word in Calibri 14 point font.

___/s/ John G. Daufeldt_____